

PBL Netherlands Environmental Assessment Agency

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACTS OF EXTRACTION AND PROCESSING OF RAW MATERIALS FOR THE ENERGY TRANSITION

Sabine de Haes and Paul Lucas

Colophon

Environmental impacts of extraction and processing of raw materials for the energy transition

© PBL Netherlands Environmental Assessment Agency The Hague, 2024 PBL publication number: 5364

Corresponding author sabine.dehaes@pbl.nl

Authors Sabine de Haes and Paul Lucas

Acknowledgements

We would like to thank Ester van der Voet and Valerio Barbarossa (both CML Leiden), Jan Kosmol (German Environment Agency (UBA)), Hester Brink, Aldert Hanemaaijer, Sonja Kruitwagen, Timo Maas, Katie Minderhout and Mark van Oorschot (all PBL) for their valuable input on earlier versions of this report.

Visualisations

Beeldredactie PBL

Accessibility

PBL attaches great importance to the accessibility of its products. Should you encounter any access-related problems when reading them, please contact us at <u>info@pbl.nl</u>, stating the title of the publication and the issue you are experiencing.

Parts of this publication may be reproduced, providing the source is stated, in the form: De Haes, S. and Lucas, P.L. (2024), Environmental impacts of extraction and processing of raw materials for the energy transition, The Hague: PBL Netherlands Environmental Assessment Agency.

PBL Netherlands Environmental Assessment Agency is the national institute for strategic policy analysis in the fields of the environment, nature and spatial planning. We contribute to improving the quality of political and administrative decision-making by conducting outlook studies, analyses and evaluations in which an integrated approach is considered paramount. Policy relevance is the prime concern in all of our studies. We conduct solicited and unsolicited research that is both independent and scientifically sound.

Contents

Main findings		4
1	Introduction	8
2	Materials for the energy transition	10
2.1	Critical materials	10
2.2	Mineral supply and demand	10
2.3	Future mineral demand and production	12
3	Environmental impacts of mineral production	14
3.1	Stages in mineral production	14
3.2	Impacts of mineral production	16
4	Explanatory factors of impact	27
4.1	Ore properties	28
4.2	Mine characteristics	28
4.3	Management of waste	29
4.4	Land rehabilitation	30
4.5	Location of the mine	31
4.6	Environmental regulation	31
5	Knowledge gaps	33
6	References	35
Арр	pendix	39

Main findings

The Dutch raw materials strategy aims to improve security of supply of materials that are economically important for the Netherlands and the European Union. Addressing harmful impacts from extraction and processing is a prerequisite and one of the five key strategies put forward in the policy document. The increasing demand for primary materials for the energy transition is of specific concern. At the request of the Dutch Ministry of Foreign Affairs, this study provides an overview of environmental impacts commonly identified in mineral production (i.e. extraction and processing) for the energy transition, as well as potential explanatory factors of these impacts.

The energy transition is an important driver of the increasing demand for some critical materials and related environmental impacts in the producing countries

Renewable energy technologies are one of many areas that use critical materials. Globally, the energy transition will likely result in an overall reduction in mining activities, in the medium to long term, primarily due to a strong decrease in coal mining and increase in recycling of materials. Nevertheless, for some materials, the energy transition is a major driver of growth. In 2022, the renewable energy transition primarily used steel, aluminum, copper, silicon, graphite, zinc, nickel, chromium, manganese, lithium, cobalt, molybdenum, neodymium, and dysprosium. Most of these, except chromium, molybdenum, zinc, and steel, are on the EU's critical raw materials list. Important determinants of future growth in mineral demand are the long-term climate target (e.g. 1.5 °C or 2 °C), energy demand, the technology mix, and the rate of material recycling. Limited studies have assessed future developments in supply. Some studies expect that future mineral production is associated with less strict environmental policies, raising concerns about fairness, substantial environmental impacts, including climate change, biodiversity loss, and pollution.

Most environmental impacts are caused by use of land, energy, water, chemicals and the generation of waste

Land use and land alteration related to mineral production not only stem from mining itself, but also from related developments, such as infrastructure, processing facilities and storage of large volumes of waste. Although, globally, the impact of mining on land use is smaller compared to logging or agriculture, its negative effects are profound and long-lasting. During resource extraction and further processing, large amounts of water, chemicals and energy are used. In addition, much waste is being generated, such as overburden (i.e. removed soil and subsoil), waste rock (i.e. unprocessed blasted rock) and tailings (i.e. residue from mineral extraction). Although tailings are often stored in large dams, risks of leakage of radioactive elements and heavy metals are high. These aspects all impact the environment in different ways (see Figure 1):

• Water scarcity and pollution: The main drivers of water scarcity are water extraction for ore processing and the dewatering of mines. Lithium and copper production, in particular, require large amounts of water, while around half of the global lithium and copper production is concentrated in areas that are already under high water stress. Regarding water pollution, the main drivers are inadequate waste management and land rehabilitation. Contaminated water may carry heavy metals and toxic elements downstream, also polluting these areas. This is mostly the case in the production of sulfide ores (e.g. copper, manganese, nickel and cobalt). Currently, around 23 million people are directly exposed to dangerous concentrations of toxic waste accumulating along riverbanks as a result of the extraction and processing of metals.

Figure 1



Environmental impacts and explanatory factors of mineral production

Source: PBL

- Soil erosion and contamination: Main drivers of soil erosion are mine development and crushing and milling of ore, while soil contamination is mainly linked to inadequate waste management. All mines around the world, together, cover around 100,000 km² of land area, while almost 1 million km² of land is overlaid with mining-related waste, which is more than the global total in urbanised area. Of specific concern are the large volumes of red mud generated for aluminium production, contributing to increased natural radioactivity and the presence of toxic elements in the environment. Around sulfide mines, acid mine drainage causes heavy metal contamination of topsoil and subsoil.
- **Biodiversity loss:** Biodiversity is impacted directly by remote and pristine areas being accessed and opened up and habitats being destructed during mine development. Mines lead to other local activities and, therefore, also have an indirect impact on biodiversity, such as through agriculture, logging, and poaching, and water and soil pollution and contamination. Nickel

mining, in particular, has a relatively large impact on biodiversity per tonne produced, mainly due to its proximity to areas of high biodiversity. Mining operations are increasingly encroaching on areas rich in biodiversity. Since 2000, about 8,500 km² of tropical and subtropical rainforests have been removed directly due to mineral production. When also taking indirect impacts of mining into account, globally, the affected area is estimated at about one third of all forests.

• **Climate change:** The primary driver of climate change related to mineral production is the huge amount of energy required for heavy machinery, smelting oxide metals and steel production. Of the total global energy-related greenhouse gas emissions, an estimated 10% stems from mineral and metal production. Other drivers are deforestation, ecosystem degradation and the chemicals with high embodied carbon used in processing. Silicon production has the largest climate change impact per tonne produced, mainly due to the high amount of energy needed for upgrading low grade quartz to high quality silicon.

A large part of the environmental impacts can be linked to ore properties, including the type of ore and the ore grade

The type of ore determines the processing route. Hydrometallurgy is generally used for oxide metals, such as aluminium and lithium, and requires large amounts of water and chemicals. Pyrometallurgy is generally used for sulfide metals, and requires a large amount of energy for heat. The ore grade (i.e. the concentration of the desired material per tonne of ore) strongly determines the amounts of energy, water and chemicals required to extract the material. Some minerals have naturally low ore grades (e.g. REEs), while for some minerals (e.g. copper) ore grades are declining. As a result more energy and water is required, and more waste is generated in extracting the metals.

Insufficient waste management can cause large-scale contamination that can continue for hundreds of years after mine closure or abandonment

Tailings often contain large amounts of heavy metals and chemicals. Seepage of chemicals from abandoned and active tailing dams and tailing dam failures cause large amounts of chemicals to infiltrate ecosystems downstream. Although small-scale and artisanal mining is far less energy-intensive than large-scale mining, it is associated with highly polluting practices. Because of the fluid characteristic of waste and the fact that it is unregulated, proper waste management systems are often lacking, leading to severe soil degradation and water contamination. It is estimated that, currently, about 11 million people around the world are affected by closed and abandoned mines, and 12 million by active mining activities. Without proper post-mining land rehabilitation, open-pit mines and tailings can remain a source of contamination for hundreds of years after mines are closed down or abandoned.

Indirect impacts of mining can be severe, including the opening up of pristine areas and pollution traveling long distances through air, water and soil

Mines are a pull factor for economic activities, further opening up the area. The development of mining infrastructure can lead to human settlement, increasing exploitation of resources and agriculture, further leading to biodiversity decline. Studies show that mining is taking place within the proximity of critical ecosystems, affecting up to 16% of the remaining wilderness areas and driving deforestation.

Other indirect impacts are caused by pollutants dispersed through air, water systems and soil. Sediments may disrupt river systems, and acid mine drainage from the mining of sulfides may contaminate soil and groundwater for many kilometres. These indirect impacts are underquantified and insufficiently regulated.

Mandatory and broader regulation is important in reducing and preventing environmental impacts

Environmental regulation encompasses various aspects of mining operations, from pollution control to post-mining land rehabilitation. This includes implementation and enforcement of environmental impact assessments, emission standards, regulation of waste management and water use, and land rehabilitation requirements. From an environmental perspective, all levels of governance have been too soft or are not taking into account all the risks. As a result, most mining companies are neglecting indirect/accumulative impacts and are abandoning mines without implementing land rehabilitation. For example, environmental assessments conducted for the regulatory approval of mining projects focus mostly on the immediate effects of new or expanding mining projects, disregarding the broader, long-term consequences. Another example is a lack of regulation on mine site rehabilitation. This is important to ensure that mining companies incorporate a rehabilitation plan and make a serious effort to restore the land, economically or environmentally, strongly reducing the risks of lingering impacts, such as further sedimentation, acid mine drainage and pollution of downstream water bodies.

There is a large knowledge base on the environmental impacts of mineral production, but some important gaps remain

Research on the environmental impacts of mineral production is important to improve sustainability in international supply chains. While existing knowledge already provides a clear reason to act, several knowledge gaps and research challenges persist:

- In scientific literature there is a lack of comprehensive research on the impacts of metals. This includes a bias towards the analysis of climate change impacts, and while some metals, such as copper, have been extensively researched, others (e.g. molybdenum, silicon, graphite, and REE) have been relatively neglected. Furthermore, planning and exploration are mostly overlooked in scientific impact studies, while the legacy and cumulative impacts of mining are not understood well enough yet to get a good overview of the overall risk of metal mining on different ecosystems
- Scientific environmental assessment methods for metals, such as of Life Cycle Assessment (LCA), have not been streamlined, making it hard to combine or compare. The coproduction of different metals from the same mine creates challenges with the allocation of impact to the individual minerals.
- Legislation on reporting of mining projects and impacts is still mostly voluntary, which is
 partly why there still is a lack of transparency and related unavailability of spatial data from
 mining companies. Data on abandoned mines are lacking, too, as well as on artisanal and
 small-scale mining activities, specific locations and the associated environmental impacts.
 This limits the ability of researchers to assess the true extent of mining-related
 environmental issues.

1 Introduction

There are growing concerns about the supply of raw materials for strategic sectors, such as renewable energy, health care, digital sectors and the defence industry. These are related to the rapidly growing demand for minerals, challenges around rapid upscaling of mining activities, and geopolitical challenges as mining and refining is concentrated in a limited number of countries. Furthermore, extraction and processing of minerals is associated with a range of negative environmental and socio-economic impacts, depending on the methods and processes used (IRP, 2019; Lèbre et al., 2020; IEA, 2021).

To address these concerns, the Dutch Government developed the national raw materials strategy (EZK et al., 2022). This strategy serves as a starting point for the Netherlands' contribution to the EU Critical Raw Materials Act (CRMA) and the promotion of Dutch interests. It aims to improve security of supply of materials that are economically important for the Netherlands and the European Union. Addressing harmful impacts from extraction and processing is one of the five key strategies put forward in the policy document. The other strategies are circularity and innovation, sustainable European mining and refining, diversification and knowledge and monitoring.

Materials for the energy transition are of specific concern. While the energy transition will very likely result in an overall decrease in the scale of mining activities on a global level, primarily due to a strong decrease in coal mining and increase in minerals recycling, substantial energy transition-related mining activities will most likely remain for decades to come (Nijnens et al., 2023). A range of studies project a significant increase in demand for minerals for the clean energy transition (i.e. IEA, 2021; Van Exter et al., 2021; European Commission, 2023b). As mining and refining of these materials is very energy-intensive and requires large amounts of water and chemicals, it can contribute to climate change, pollution of air, water and soil, and the loss of nature and biodiversity (IRP, 2020).

At the request of the Dutch Ministry of Foreign Affairs this study provides an overview of potential environmental impacts caused by critical mineral supply chains for the energy transition. The report is structured as follows:

- Chapter 2 discusses what materials are critical for the energy transition and important to monitor from an environmental impact perspective, where they are mined, and their projected growth in demand.
- Chapter 3 provides an overview of the environmental impacts that are commonly identified in the production (i.e. mining and refining) of these materials, the production processes with the most important impact, the scale of the impact, and the materials that contribute the most.
- Chapter 4 discusses potential explanatory factors for these impacts, their main characteristics and how they affect impact.
- Finally, Chapter 5 provides an overview of knowledge gaps with respect to the environmental impacts of mineral production.

In Chapter 2, the analysis is based on mining data from the United States Geological Survey (USGS) and recent scenario studies on mineral demands. Chapter 3 employs recent comprehensive scientific reviews to estimate the magnitude of effects within each designated impact category.

Also, systemic reviews of environmental assessments were collected to find information about the effect per metal, in various impact categories (i.e. water consumption and contamination, biodiversity loss and climate change). This information was then combined with production data from the USGS to estimate the overall effect of each metal in year 2022. Chapter 4 brings together recent scientific studies and grey literature about the main drivers of these impacts. Finally, we identified some important gaps highlighted in the literature, which are discussed in Chapter 5.

The study does not address deep seabed mining, non-metallic minerals, secondary material production or the socio-economic implications of mineral production. Although it has a global focus, reference to low- and middle-income countries is made where relevant.

This research is part of a broader research on the sustainable and just supply of raw materials.

2 Materials for the energy transition

The production of renewable energy technologies, electric vehicles, and storage capacity all require large amounts of materials. This section discusses the raw materials that are critical for these technologies and important to monitor from an environmental impact perspective. It discusses where these materials are mined, as well as the projected future demand and production, with a specific focus on low- and middle-income countries.

2.1 Critical materials

Metals are not critical in themselves. Criticality is rather a construct of demand- and supply-side factors (e.g. Schrijvers et al., 2020). These factors are both dynamic, as they change over time, and context-dependent, as they can differ strongly between countries and regions. The European Commission has created a list of critical raw materials (CRMs) for the European Union, based on the importance of materials for the EU economy and the risk of supply disruption (European Commission, 2023b).¹ This list is reviewed and updated every three years. With its proposal for a European Critical Raw Materials Act (European Commission, 2023a), the European Commission has also introduced the concept of strategic raw materials (SRM). These materials are additionally characterised by their importance for strategic sectors (e.g. renewable energy; digital, aerospace and defence technologies; significant gaps between projected growth in demand and current supply; and difficulties of scaling up production). The current EU list includes 34 materials, 32 of which are labelled critical and 16 strategic (European Commission, 2023b). Around 20 materials on this list are important for renewable energy technologies.

However, the environmental impact of material production — the focus of this study — is not determined by the supply risk but rather by the volume of the ore that is mined (Section 2.2), what is being mined, and where and how this is mined and processed (Chapters 3 and 4). The 10 most-used materials for renewable energy products in 2022, based on their net weight, from high to low, are copper, silicon, graphite, zinc, nickel, chromium, manganese, lithium, cobalt and molybdenum (IEA, 2023). The IEA 2023 study excludes the base materials aluminium and steel. Aluminium is in high demand for electricity networks and structures for solar panels, and steel is important as construction material across a broad range of renewable energy technologies (IEA, 2021). Many studies also point to rare earth element (REE; especially, neodymium and dysprosium) as indispensable for, for example, wind turbines and electric motors (Gielen, 2021). Except for chromium, molybdenum, zinc and steel, all these materials are on the EU CRM 2023 list.

2.2 Mineral supply and demand

In the last 20 years, the global mining industry has seen significant expansion. Global production of fossil fuels, metal ores and industrial minerals increased by around 50%, from 11.3 billion tonnes in 2000 to 17.3 billion in 2020 (Jasansky et al., 2023). Certain minerals have experienced even more

¹ Economic importance is determined by the raw material need and added value of relevant sectors. Supply risk of disruption is based on global and EU supply concentration, EU import reliance, input of secondary materials, and technical substitutability. As the European Union has a far lower availability of minerals in its territory than do China and the United States, many more metals and minerals are currently perceived as 'critical'.

rapid growth, such as iron ore with a 151% increase, and aluminium with a 166% rise within the same timeframe. This trend is expected to continue, especially for metal ores, partly due to the rising demand for clean energy technologies and widespread electrification efforts.

Table 2.1 provides an overview of current global demand for selected materials for clean energy technologies in 2021, as well as 2022 global production, reserves and resources.² While for several materials clean energy technologies are responsible for only a very small share of total global demand (e.g. aluminium, steel and chromium), for some materials they are a major driver of growth. For example, in 2022, renewable energy technologies accounted for 16% of total demand for nickel, 40% for cobalt and 56% for lithium, up from 6%, 17% and 30%, respectively, in 2017 (IEA, 2023). At the same time, global estimated reserves in 2022 are enough to cover more than 100 years of current use for clean energy technologies. Furthermore, as minerals are becoming more valuable, reserves are increasing, as more resources become economically minable, and resources increase as more effort is put into mapping and exploring minerals. For example, between 2012 and 2022, the world's lithium reserves grew from and estimated 13 to around 26 million tonnes, and total resources from 40 to 98 million tonnes (USGS, 2014, 2023).





Global mining activity per income group, 2022

Source: USGS (2023)

² A Mineral Resource is a concentration or occurrence of solid material of economic interest in or on the Earth's crust in such form, grade or quality and quantity that there are reasonable prospects for eventual economic extraction. A Mineral Reserve is the economically mineable part of a measured and/or indicated mineral resource (CIM, 2014).

Table 2.1

Global raw material demand for renewable energy technologies, 2021 (IEA, 2023) and total production, reserves and resources, 2022 (USGS, 2023)

	Demand (kt)	Production (Mt)	Reserves (Mt)	Resources (Mt)
Aluminium (Bauxite)	-	380	31,000	55,000-75,000
Chromium	181	41	560	12,000
Cobalt	68	0.190	8.3	25 ¹
Copper	5,736	22	890	2,100 ²
Graphite (natural)	587	1.3	330	> 800
Iron	-	1,600	85,000	230,000,000
Lithium	73	0.13 ³	26	98
Manganese	174	20	1,700	NA
Molybdenum	26	0.250	12	25.4
Nickel	475	3.3	> 100	300
REEs	13	0.3	130	NA
Silicon	765	8.8	NA	NA
Zinc	585	13	210	1,900

¹ Only terrestrial resources; ² undiscovered resources estimated at 3,500 Mt; ³ excluding US production;

Table A.1 in the Appendix provides an overview of mineral mining in low- and lower middle-income countries. For most minerals, low- and lower middle-income countries together account for around 15%–20% of global production in 2022 (Figure 2.1). Low-income countries are dominant in cobalt mining with the Democratic Republic of Congo (DRC) producing around 70% of global cobalt. DRC also produces a significant amount of copper, and Madagascar and Mozambique are important graphite producers. Relatively more mining takes place in lower middle-income countries, especially bauxite in Guinea, but also manganese in Ghana, and molybdenum and nickel in the Philippines. However, besides lithium and cobalt, most minerals by far are mined in upper middle-income countries (e.g. Brazil, China and Russia). Several high-income countries also play an important role in global mining (e.g. Australia, Canada and Chili). Australia and Chili are dominant in lithium mining, and Chili also plays an important role in the mining of copper and molybdenum.

2.3 Future mineral demand and production

A range of studies have looked at future demands for minerals for the clean energy transition. The best-known and most-cited projections are from the International Energy Agency (IEA, 2021, 2023). Other recent projections are from the World Bank (Hund et al., 2020) and the German Raw Materials Agency (Marscheider-Weidemann et al., 2021). For an overview of older studies see IRP (2020), Gielen (2021) and Watari et al. (2020). Although these projections are all subject to major uncertainties (e.g. IEA, 2023; Wang et al., 2023), they all conclude a phase-out of most fossil fuels and significant growth in demand for metals towards 2040/2050, especially for battery-related materials (e.g. cobalt, graphite and lithium) but also for manganese, molybdenum and REEs (Table A.2 in the Appendix). For example, IEA (2021) projects an increase in lithium demand by a factor of 13 to 51, between 2020 and 2040, and for cobalt and graphite by a factor of 6 to 30. Also the share of clean energy technologies in total demand for specific materials is projected to increase. Where renewable energy technologies accounted for around 20% of total demand for copper and

neodymium in 2022, and 56% of total lithium demand, these shares are projected to increase to 45%–50% and even 90%, respectively, in a scenario that reaches net-zero CO₂ emissions for the energy sector by 2050 (IEA, 2023).

An important source of uncertainty about the growth in demand across the different studies and scenarios is the anticipated climate ambition (e.g. 1.5 °C or 2 °C). A more stringent climate target not only requires larger deployment of renewable energy technologies by 2050, but also much faster deployment and thus higher demand already by 2030 (IEA, 2023). Other determinants include projected energy demand (driven by population growth, economic and technological developments, as well as behaviour), the technology mix (e.g. deployment of wind and solar, electric vehicles, CCS and negative emission technologies) and the choice of sub-technologies (e.g. dominant battery technology or choice of wind turbine). For example, to reflect the latest developments in battery technology, compared to IEA's 2021 projection (IEA, 2021), the 2023 update includes a larger share of lithium iron phosphate and an earlier switch to high-nickel chemistries, with a notable downward impact on cobalt demand (IEA, 2023). Finally, also the rate of material recycling is an important source of uncertainty. While in the short term minerals are stocked in an expanding renewable energy system, in the longer term, the decommissioning of end-of-life technologies provides opportunities for reuse or recycling. Studies on future projections of secondary material availability are still scarce. Uncertainties in future availability of secondary materials relate to the lifetime of technologies, collection rate of discarded technologies, metal recovery rate, and the materials needed for future technologies (Deetman et al., 2021; Van Oorschot et al., 2022).

While there are many studies on future material demand for the clean energy transition, there is a lack of those that assess where these minerals are likely to be produced in the future (Watari et al., 2021). Based on detailed modelling for some minerals (i.e. iron, copper, zinc and lithium), combined with constant 2015 production shares for others, Watari et al. (2021) conclude that a significant share of mining activities will most likely come from countries with sometimes less stringent policies on environmental resource management, such as China, Russia, DRC and the Philippines. The unfolding mining boom, thus, may have a substantial environmental impact, including climate change, loss of nature and biodiversity and pollution of land, water and air. These impacts are discussed in more detail in Chapter 3. In addition, although not part of this study, weak to failing resource governance comes with the risk of misappropriation of funds, rather than benefiting local communities (Watari et al., 2021). Combined with existing poverty, vulnerability to environmental change and fragile economic development, this complicates progress in human development and well-being for people at national and local levels.

3 Environmental impacts of mineral production

As shown in Chapter 2, the energy transition will require a huge increase in the extraction and processing of specific minerals, which could cause substantial environmental impacts. This chapter synthesises the latest insights around these environmental impacts. It focuses on quantified impacts and zooms in on metals with a high impact. The chapter is structured as follows: Section 3.1 discusses the different stages in mine development and mineral production. Subsequently, Section 3.2 discusses the environmental impacts linked to these stages. Four broad types of environmental impacts are discussed: water scarcity and pollution, soil erosion and contamination, the resulting loss of nature and biodiversity, and climate change.

3.1 Stages in mineral production

Figure 3.1 shows an overview of common stages in mineral production, including the life cycle of a mine and the different steps from ore extraction to the actual metal ready to be used in the production of renewable energy technologies. The environmental impacts differ between these various stages. The life cycle of a mine includes:

- **Prospecting and exploration** aims to identify economically viable mineral concentrations. This stage involves assessing the resources, evaluating potential environmental and social impacts, and estimating costs and potential returns (IRP, 2020). This can be a combination of public and private efforts. This stage typically takes between 1 and 10 years but sometimes many more years.
- **Planning and construction** is about designing the set-up, mining processes and recovery plan. Once everything is assessed and designed, the construction phase starts. Overburden is removed, infrastructure and processing plants are constructed, as well as additional aspects, such as facilities for employees. This phase takes about 1 to 5 years on average.
- **Operation** is the stage where the ore is extracted. This can take 2 to 100 years, sometimes more.
- Mine closure and post-closure is about land rehabilitation after the mine is economically exhausted. It is about economic and/or ecological recovery of the mine site. Since 1977, land rehabilitation has become a regular part of modern mining practices, mainly in western countries (IRP, 2020). In low- and lower middle-income countries, however, there is often a low level of compliance regarding the rehabilitation obligation (Listiyani et al., 2023). Closure takes up to 5 years, on average, but post-closure impacts may increase over time and linger for hundreds of years.

When the mine is in operation, the following steps can be distinguished:

• **Extraction** of metallic ores involves various techniques of surface and underground mining, with the choice of method depending on factors, such as the deposit's characteristics, location, size, depth, and grade. All mines contain multiple metals of various ore grades. A metal is however only extracted if it is economically viable at that moment in time, which is why many metals end up in waste piles.

- **Beneficiation** is the process of concentrating the ore, separating gangue material from valuable material and producing a tradable ore concentrate (with tailings as waste). Usually, this happens at the mine site, and involves crushing, grinding, classification, sorting, separation, and concentration (e.g. by flotation). Gangue is typically the most worthless and undesirable material. This stage generates the most waste.
- **Refining** is the recovery is metals from the concentrated ore. Different processing routes can be distinguished. Sulfide metals can be extracted from their ores in pyrometallurgical processes (i.e. thermal treatment of metals). Oxide metals can be recovered through hydrometallurgical processes (i.e. the use of aqueous and chemical solutions to recover metals). The hydrometallurgical route for oxidic metals (e.g. copper ores), also called SX-EF (solvent extraction-electrowinning) combines beneficiation and processing. Lithium is currently mostly extracted from brine, requiring slightly different processes than hydrometallurgy. This stage often occurs in countries other than where the metal has been mined.

Figure 3.1



Common stages of mineral production for renewable energy technologies

Source: PBL

3.2 Impacts of mineral production

The environmental impacts of mineral production stages are generally caused by the use of land, energy, water and chemicals and the production of waste. Mine development requires land for the mine itself, but also for other uses, such as infrastructure, processing facilities and waste. During resource extraction and further processing, high levels of water, chemicals and energy are used. In addition, much waste is being generated in the form of overburden, waste rock and tailings. Overburden and waste rock are often stored in heaps and piles while tailings are often stored in dams to reduce the risk of leakage of all kinds of radioactive elements or heavy metals. When the mine is closed or abandoned, environmental impacts can linger or even aggravate if rehabilitation of the site is not done well.

Section 3.2 discusses the impacts of mineral production of the selected metals. The information is mainly based on recent scientific overview studies and syntheses of environmental assessments with a global perspective. Per impact category (described in the sections below), first the primary drivers are discussed, followed by the scale of impact on a global level. Where available, the impact per tonne of metal produced from the literature is presented. To determine total impact of the demand in a year, impact per tonne is multiplied by total metal demand from IEA (2023), as presented in Table 2.1. The metals with a high impact are discussed in more detail, in the text boxes. Note that demand for iron/steel as a resource for renewable energy products is unknown, while it is likely the largest material input in terms of volume.

3.2.1 Water pollution and scarcity

Water is impacted in two ways by mining: extraction and processing of ore and poor waste management can cause water pollution, and excessive water consumption can cause water scarcity. Of particular concern are the water-related effects of mining operations on hydrological systems, as local freshwater sources are vital to provide the necessary amounts of clean water for both human and environmental requirements. Due to increasing social, economic, and environmental concerns surrounding water impacts, a growing body of research has begun quantifying the water footprint of energy products (Madaka et al., 2022).

Water pollution

Globally, there are large concerns about the pollution of water bodies caused by mining operations and closed/abandoned mines. In mine development, biomass is removed, increasing sedimentation resulting in disturbed aquatic ecosystems. During mining and post-mining phases, water can become contaminated (Beck et al., 2020). Water quality deteriorates due to discharges of contaminated water, for example, from retention ponds or uncontrolled run-off in the mining area (UNEP, 2013). Insufficiently treated toxic effluent waters generated during hydrometallurgical processing can directly pollute surface waters. Such effluent waters often contain hazardous chemicals used in mineral ore processing, such as cyanide, mercury, arsenic, lead and zinc. In addition, these waters may have high levels of acidity. The most severely contaminated discharges typically occur shortly after operations have ceased, when artificial dewatering has stopped and groundwater levels recover (Byrne, 2011). Coulthard and Macklin (2003) reveal a remarkably prolonged duration of contamination; more than 70% of the deposited pollutants persist in river systems for over 200 years following the closure of a mine. Metal mining has been responsible for significant adverse effects on aquatic ecosystems, including heavy metal contamination, acidification, sediment buildup, reduced oxygen levels, salinity increases, and declines in calcium levels, all of which have damaging impacts on the overall health of aquatic ecosystems (Beck et al., 2020). Worldwide, 479,200 km of river channels and 164,000 km² of floodplains are currently affected by metal mining (112,400 km² from inactive mines and 52,000 km² from active mines) (Macklin et al., 2023). About 23 million people, 6 million livestock and 66,000 km² of irrigated land are directly exposed to dangerous concentrations of toxic waste accumulating in riverbanks due to metal mining activity. These numbers will only increase due to the ramping up of metal mining and decreasing ore grades. According to Macklin et al. (2023) Oceania, Europe, North America, and South America predominantly experience the effects of abandoned mines, while in Africa and Asia, it is particularly the active mines that contribute more to pollution.

Studies have demonstrated that water contamination from mining activities can have severe and widespread consequences for fish habitats and populations downstream of mining sites, including areas used for aquaculture and fisheries (Affandi and Ishak, 2019).

Life cycle analysis (LCA) allows for the evaluation of the potential environmental impact of metals across various categories throughout their entire life cycle, from raw material extraction to end-oflife disposal (i.e. 'cradle to grave'). In Figure 3.2, systemic review studies collected results of LCAs of mineral production for selected metals. According to these very generic results, molybdenum causes the highest amount of eutrophication per tonne, while copper has the highest impact globally (steel was not taken into account in these studies). In Box 3.1 the reasons these metals cause such high pollution levels is explained. Freshwater eutrophication is just one of the toxicity effects, other effects, such as acidification or radioactivity, have not been quantified.

Figure 3.2



Freshwater eutrophication from material production for renewable energy technologies Intensity Total impact, 2021

Source: Rachid et al. (2023) and IEA (2023)

Box 3.1: Metals with a high water pollution impact

Molybdenum

Molybdenum sulfide is mined as a primary product and as a co-element of copperbearing ores. Molybdenum and rock waste are exposed to the environment through mining processes, tailing dams and poorly rehabilitated abandoned mines. Through acid mine drainage, it causes eutrophication in interconnected water bodies. In addition, molybdenum mining can cause high metal content to enter the environment, which is highly toxic to plants and animals. Research on levels of exposure and impacts are still limited (Frascoli and Hudson-Edwards, 2018). Similar effects are seen for other sulfide ores (e.g. copper and nickel).

Rare Earth Elements

REEs are named rare because of their low ore grade, which means that more effort is needed to extract them. There are two common methods for REE mining, both of which release toxic chemicals into the environment (Nayar, 2021). The first involves creating leaching ponds where chemicals are added to extracted earth to separate metals, but these ponds can leak toxic chemicals into groundwater. The second method uses pipes to pump chemicals into the ground, also leading to leaching ponds and environmental issues. Both methods generate large amounts of toxic waste, including dust (average of 13 kg/t REEs), waste gas (approx. 10,000 m³/t), waste water (75 m³/t), and radioactive residue (1 t/t). This can be attributed to the fact that, when REE ores are mixed with other chemicals in leaching ponds, they contaminate air, water and soil. Of particular concern is the occurrence of radioactive thorium and uranium in rare earth ores, leading to severe and harmful health consequences. For every tonne of rare earth elements produced, approximately 2,000 tonnes of toxic waste is generated. The environmental impacts are mainly caused due to weak environmental regulations for mining of REEs in, for example, China.

Water consumption and scarcity

In mineral production, water is required for processing ore (i.e. grinding, floatation, separation etc.) and dust suppression. Water is both important for hydrometallurgical and pyrometallurgical processes. Water is mostly extracted from groundwater, streams, rivers, lakes or commercial water service suppliers. There is a strong correlation between the amounts of water used per kg mineral and the ore grade (Meissner, 2021). The lower the ore grade, the more water is needed to extract the specific metal. Also dewatering of mines can have tremendous impacts. In Germany, for example, the only regions with physical groundwater scarcity are those with lignite mining.

Global water footprints of metals have not yet been fully studied (Madaka et al., 2022). Globally, when compared to other sectors, mining accounts for a relatively small proportion of total water use. Meissner (2021) calculated that mining of metals³ accounts for about 0.1% of total water consumption. This sounds like a small amount, but mining can severely affect freshwater resources on local or regional scales. This occurs when water consumption surpasses the carrying capacity of the region, which is determined by the amount of available water and level of dependence of the surrounding ecosystems and communities (Meissner, 2021). Groundwater lowering for mining further aggravates water stress with far stretching regional effects. According to WRI (2024), at least

³ Besides the metals included in this report (i.e. bauxite, cobalt, copper, manganese, molybdenum, nickel and zinc), Meissner included iron, lead, uranium, gold, palladium, platinum and silver. Graphite and silicon were not included.

16% of the critical mineral mines, deposits, and districts on land are in places with high or very high water stress. These are areas where farming, industry, and homes often use a large amount or all of the available water. In figure 3.3 depicts an overview of the average freshwater use of several metals. Around half of global lithium and copper production is concentrated in areas of high water stress (IEA, 2021).⁴ This demand creates competition for water between mining and other uses, including agriculture and nature. In water-stressed areas, new mines are increasingly opposed by local communities as open pit mines risk endangering the main source of water for the communities (Schoderer and Ott, 2022). Box 3.2 further elaborates on why lithium, REEs and copper production are important contributors to water scarcity.

Box 3.2: Metals with a high water scarcity impact

Lithium

In 2022, there were eight fully active mines that produced lithium from continental brines. More are likely to open before 2030 (Vera et al., 2023). Lithium is currently extracted primarily from continental brines and hard rock ores, with continental brine resources being more abundant. The process of extracting lithium from continental brine involves open air evaporation, resulting in the loss of significant amounts of water, ranging from 100–800 m³ per tonne of lithium carbonate. Although the brine water is not suitable for drinking or agricultural purposes, research indicates that extracting large amounts of it can lead to fresh water seeping into brine aquifers and blending with the salt water. This process can lead to the saltwater contamination of fresh water sources and reduce the availability of surface and groundwater nearby (NRDC, 2022). Suitable continental brine locations are limited, with a significant portion located in drier regions, such as the Lithium Triangle in Latin America, which covers parts of Chile, Argentina and Bolivia and contains over half of the global lithium supply.

REEs

Golroudbary (2022) estimated the water consumption of the primary production of REEs. This was 0.42 million m³ in 2010 and is expected to reach 0.91 million m³ by 2030. Most of the water consumption is attributed to Neodymium and Cerium.

Copper

Water use in copper production depends on processing techniques. For example, pyrometallurgical processing of copper ores is estimated at 91 m³ of groundwater per tonne, while hydrometallurgical processes consume about 70 m³ per tonne (Madaka et al., 2022). In addition, tailing dams are a large cause of water loss.

⁴ High water stress is defined as the ratio of total water withdrawals over the total available surface and groundwater supplies above 40%.

Figure 3.3



Freshwater use from material production for renewable energy technologies

Source: Rachid et al. (2023) and IEA (2022, 2023)

3.2.2 Soil erosion and contamination

Soil is impacted by mining in two ways: soil erosion linked to mine development and crushing and milling of the ore, and soil contamination mainly linked to poor waste management. Although these are increasingly seen as important impacts, quantitative analysis is scarce.

Soil erosion

Mining processes significantly reduce soil particle sizes, thereby aggravating the erosion by rainfall, run-off or wind. The erosion process takes place when stripping overburden (i.e. soil and subsoil above the bedrock), blasting and excavating rocks and minerals, waste dumping, and reclaiming of the land after mining activities have ceased (Ramli et al., 2020).

The post-mining impacts result in changes in land morphology, topography and landscape. The landscape of post-mining sites often is uneven with deep holes and big piles of soil and rocks left from the mining process. Because of these changes, the land cannot be used for farming or building, and has an increased risk of avalanches (Listiyani et al., 2023).

Especially mining activities disturbing large areas of land may increase erosion rate up to several hundred times greater than from undisturbed areas. With satellite imagery, (Maus et al., 2022) estimated that globally mines cover around 100,000 km² of land area, including waste rock dumps, pits, water ponds, tailing dams, heap leach pads and processing infrastructure. This is about 0.07% of the total land area, to compare: the total in urban area covers about 0.51% of the total in land, globally (Kuang, 2019). It is safe to assume that the fertile topsoil and subsoils that were there before are lost. In addition, the number of mines abandoned around the globe is estimated to be in the hundreds of thousands (Ippolito et al., 2019). In many countries there is not enough

information or regulation on land rehabilitation. This indicates that soil erosion continues after mining companies abandon the site.

There are no generic/global quantifications on how much soil erosion/pollution occurs around mines. However, many case studies indicate that further downstream, ecosystems and human health are also significantly impacted. In addition, high sediment loads in surface waters commonly lead to vast changes in aquatic ecosystems, such as turbidity that increases sediment loads in rivers and lakes, causing problems with both photosynthesis for plants and visibility for fish and other organisms. The overall impacts on soil health and biodiversity can be very significant for soil structures, reducing soil biota and disrupting hydrological processes. This can drastically reduce the number of plant species able to grow, changing habitats and, thus, the species they support, and leading to an increased risk of bio-accumulation for some contaminants (IRP, 2020).

Soil contamination

There is a consensus in the literature that, for soils, the consequences of metal mining have been largely overlooked, while mining is one of the most important sources of soil pollution (Chen et al., 2022; Kříbek et al., 2023). An important driver of such pollution is the generation of tailings. Abandoned mines cause acidity, metal solubility, and degrading ecosystems (Ippolito et al., 2019).

According to recent estimates, an area of around 1 million km² of our planet is now overlaid with mining-related waste from all types of mines (Macklin et al., 2023). This is about 0.67% of the total global land area and more than the total urban area. Since many of the richest geological deposits have already been exploited, deposits with lower grade ores are now being mined, causing larger volumes of tailings per unit extracted. Each metal brings its own type of contamination with it. Box 3.3 zooms in at aluminium, copper, nickel and cobalt.

Box 3.3: Metals with a high soil contamination impact

Aluminium

As alumina production has grown worldwide, there has been a corresponding increase in the environmental accumulation of red mud. This waste material, generated during the alumina production process, can vary from 0.3 to 2.5 tonnes for every tonne of aluminium, depending on the bauxite ore used. Annually, the rate of red mud generation is about 120 million tonnes. Managing this waste effectively is a critical concern for the aluminium industry, given the significant quantities of red mud produced. Notably, the industry contributes to heightened natural radioactivity and the presence of toxic elements in the environment, largely due to the expansive land needed for red mud disposal sites. The high alkalinity of red mud makes it extremely corrosive and environmentally harmful, leading to the classification of red mud as a hazardous waste in terms of its environmental impact (Ozden, 2019).

Copper, nickel, cobalt

Around copper, nickel and cobalt mines, heavy metals often accumulate on topsoil and subsoil (Chen et al., 2022). Sources include dust fallout from tailing facilities, leakages of solutions from tailing dams, emissions from smelters, and breakdowns from pipelines that transport slurry cause deposition of metals in sediments. Tailings can be large, for example, in the Zambian copper belt tailing facilities cover an area of more than 9125 hectares. Metals spread from these tailings

(through air/water) and stay in soils for a long time, thereby posing (severe) health risks to the food chain of communities and animals around the mining site (Kříbek et al., 2023).

3.2.3 Biodiversity loss

Biodiversity can be defined as 'species, genetic, and ecosystem diversity in an area, sometimes including associated abiotic components such as landscape features, drainage systems, and climate' (Swingland, 2013). Mining poses serious but also very specific threats to biodiversity: it affects biodiversity through many different pathways and on all spatial scales (i.e. mining site, local landscape, regional and global), both directly and indirectly. Most research has focused on direct impacts, indirect impacts are understood to a lesser degree (Sonter et al., 2018).

Currently, exploration for minerals is still done in protected areas (Sonter et al., 2023). Mining practices drive biodiversity loss directly by accessing and opening up remote or pristine areas and direct destruction of habitat (e.g. fertile soils, grasslands, forests) during mine development. With the clearance of overburden and natural habitats to gain access to mineral deposits — as well as to build facilities for storage, processing and waste — biodiversity is literally removed.

More indirectly, in case mining is the primary reason for opening up a natural area for development, this leads to follow-up activities such as road development, construction, or even agriculture, logging, and poaching, all activities that cause further land-use change and fragmentation of habitats, with associated impact on ecosystem services and biodiversity. Mining also causes biodiversity loss through pollution of water and soils due to the failure of tailing dams, dumping of rock and chemical waste, and acid mine drainage. In addition, water consumption can aggravate water stress, also causing biodiversity loss.

With satellite imagery, the visible land use (e.g. infrastructure and urban expansion) is mostly included in biodiversity impact assessments (Tang and Werner, 2023). However, the overall impact of contamination of soils and water, spreading of sediments and uptake of water is not fully quantified in literature yet. The extent and severity of biodiversity loss depends on the specific mining activity and the vulnerability of the surrounding ecosystem.

Direct losses

A global data set of biodiversity loss associated with mining-related land use is lacking. Sonter et al. (2020) and Cabernard and Pfister (2022) combine spatial mining data (57,277 km² of mining area as identified in 2014) and biodiversity data.

In some cases, removing mineral substrate permanently removes ecosystems, due to the dependence of specific biota on these minerals (Sonter et al., 2018). In Brazil, for example, iron mining completely removes a wide variety of plant systems. Cabernard and Pfister (2022) roughly estimate that 0.02% of global species have become extinct due to direct mining activities. This is mainly attributed to mining of coal (26%), nickel (19%), precious metals (12%), iron (6%–12%), and bauxite (5%–10%). Overall, they conclude that 76% of total mining-related biodiversity loss can be attributed to metal production (assuming about 10% of coal is used for heat and electricity for metal production). A quarter of this biodiversity loss is due to steel production. Areas with high ecosystem value are mainly directly affected in Indonesia (nickel), Australia (bauxite) and New Caledonia (nickel). Other hotspots are caused by nickel mining in the Philippines and Cuba, bauxite in Suriname, Brazil and Venezuela, and iron in Brazil, China and Venezuela. Most impacts

associated with copper occurred in Chile, Peru and Indonesia (Cabernard and Pfister, 2022). Similar studies underscore the fact that many mines are located in regions with high ecosystem value (Sonter et al., 2018), while exploration for minerals is still done in protected areas (Sonter et al., 2023).

In terms of terrestrial ecosystems, direct deforestation due to mining is mapped in a study by Giljum et al. (2022) and WWF (2023). According to their assessment, since 2000, about 8 500 km² of tropical and subtropical rainforest has been lost, directly, due to industrial mining — including expanding extraction sites, tailing storage facilities, waste rock dumps, and on-site facilities for processing and transport. Of this loss of tropical rainforest, 80% was located in Indonesia, Brazil, Ghana and Suriname (incl. coal mining).

It is important to note that impacts persist after mines are abandoned/closed and land rehabilitation is extremely important to safeguard biodiversity (Sonter et al., 2023).

Indirect losses

The impacts of mining processes on biodiversity extend across vast distances through various pathways. Assuming an average impact radius of 50 km around each mining property, Sonter et al. (2020) estimated that mining area coincides 8% with protected areas, 7% with key biodiversity areas, and 16% with remaining wilderness. These areas partly overlap and include both direct and indirect effects of mining. WWF stated that the mining sector is the fourth largest driver of deforestation, affecting one third of the world's forest ecosystems when indirect impacts are accounted for (WWF, 2023). According to the IUCN Red List, mining currently threatens as many species as does climate change (11,000 and 12,000 species, respectively) (Sonter et al., 2023).

An example of impact pathways are other human activities developing around a mine. For instance, the development of mining-related infrastructure can attract human settlements, introducing new threats or intensifying pre-existing ones, such as over-exploitation through hunting and fishing, the introduction of invasive species, and the loss of habitat due to other land uses, such as agriculture (Sonter et al., 2018; Cabernard and Pfister, 2022). Sonter et al. (2017) showed that mining induces deforestation in the Amazon rainforest up to 70 km from mining sites, indirect deforestation can be 12 times greater than forest losses in mining areas.

Another example is the export of sediment from higher areas, such as the Madre de Dios in Peru, which leads to the deterioration of ecosystems along interconnected rivers in Brazil. These processes result in the survival of only those species with a higher tolerance for the effects of large amounts of sediments (Dethier et al., 2023).

Lastly, an important cause for biodiversity loss is acidification of groundwater and soil. Quantification of terrestrial acidification is still understudied (Rachid et al., 2023). Terrestrial acidification is a consequence of acid mine drainage. This mainly occurs during the mining of sulfides, such as nickel, copper and molybdenum (Figure 3.4). Highly acidic waters can solubilise heavy metals and other toxic elements. Through rain and groundwater, these toxic and acidic streams spread through the environment, acidifying and contaminating the soils of terrestrial ecosystems.

When assumed that future mines will affect biodiversity the same way as current mines, threats will likely increase by 500% to 900%, by 2050, for some energy transition materials, such as cobalt and

lithium (Sonter et al., 2023). The importance to understand and address these impacts is even higher when taking into account the trends of declining ore grades and that mines are mainly opened up in weak governance states with high biodiversity areas.

Terrestrial acidification from material production for renewable energy technologies



Figure 3.4

Source: Nuss and Eckelmann (2014), Rachid et al. (2023) and IEA (2023)

3.2.4 Climate change

Climate change is an important impact category from a global perspective. In terms of scale of impact, global metal production is one of the largest consumers of fossil fuels (Farjana, 2019). Overall, Azadi et al. (2020) estimate that greenhouse gas emissions associated with primary mineral and metal production were the equivalent of approximately 10% of the total global energy-related greenhouse gas emissions in 2018 (Azadi et al., 2020). This is a lot for one sector, especially since it contributes only 6.7% to global GDP.

Fossil fuel consumption for the use of heavy equipment, electricity generation, large consumption of process heat and use of coking coal (i.e. for steel production) are the largest drivers of greenhouse gas emissions caused by the mining industry. With the increasing demand for metals, metal extraction goes deeper into the surface and lower ore grades are mined. The resulting increase in heavy machinery and equipment use requires more electricity and fossil fuels (Farjana, 2019). Of the most abundant geological reserves a great many have either undergone exploitation in the past or are presently being tapped into, many newly discovered ore deposits are complex and finer-grained, requiring more amounts of energy per ore deposit (Macklin et al., 2023).

After extraction, processing steps (e.g. smelting and refining) also emit many greenhouse gas emissions. For sulfide ores, energy use for smelting has the greatest impact because of the high temperatures this requires, which is also true for refining. For oxide ores, the consumption of hydrochloric acid and ammonium oxides often causes the largest impact, as the production of these flows requires large amounts of energy, causing a large embodied impact (Farjana, 2019). Mining also contributes to climate change through deforestation and ecosystem degradation (Norgate, 2010).

Silicon, aluminium, copper, zinc, nickel and manganese are the most important minerals contributing to climate change. The right graph of Figure 3.3 shows the total global production in megatonnes. For silicon, this is due to the large amounts of energy needed for upgrading low quartz quality to high quality silicon. For aluminium, copper, nickel, zinc and manganese), this large impact can mainly be explained by the high production levels, compared to the impact of, for example, cobalt (Table 2.1). Further elaboration on the cause of the impact of these metals is presented in Box 3.4.

Figure 3.3



Greenhouse gas emissions from material production for renewable energy technologies

Source: Rachid et al. (2023) and IEA (2023)

Box 3.4: Metals with a high impact on climate change

Silicon

The PV industry requires high-quality silica sand to produce metallurgical-grade silicon. Since high quality quartz deposits are scarce, lower quality silica sand is increasingly used (especially in China). As this requires more processing, it increases energy demand (Heidari and Anctil, 2022). The level of impact, however, is highly uncertain since a large part of the supply chain data of silicon is not traceable through official trade documents. A large share of quartz mining occurs illegally; it takes place in more than 70 countries and is the second most illegally traded product in the world. Current environmental assessments therefore likely underestimate the GHG emissions from silica extraction.

Nickel and cobalt

When a cobalt reserve is found, it is often found in combination with of copper and nickel, although cobalt is far less abundant than copper and nickel. The mining operations, encompassing land clearing, soil removal, tailings management, and ore loading and transportation, heavily depend on fossil fuels for their energy. Nickel and cobalt often have the same mineralogical characteristics, requiring similar beneficiation steps (Figure 3.3). Processing of these minerals relies on power plants as its primary energy source. These activities are the primary drivers behind the carbon emissions associated with the production of these metals (Adiansyah, 2023). In particular for nickel production, tropical forests are stripped — especially in Indonesia and New Caledonia, indirectly causing emissions of CO₂ (from loss of carbon sequestered in vegetation) and CH₄ (from loss of carbon in peat soils), and reduction in carbon uptake capacities. Around 70% of global cobalt is supplied from Congo, of which 20% is mined manually. From a climate perspective, this has a low impact since it requires less energy. However, from a human health perspective — which is outside the scope of this study — it has severe implications for the miners.

4 Explanatory factors of impact

As shown in Chapter 3, mineral production is associated with a range of environmental impacts, linked to the use of energy, land, water and chemicals. These impacts are largely context specific and depend on a range of factors, including ore properties, mine characteristics, waste management, mine location, and governance (Figure 4.1). This chapter discusses these explanatory factors in more detail.

Figure 4.1



Environmental impacts and explanatory factors of mineral production

Source: PBL

4.1 Ore properties

A large part of the environmental impact can be linked to the properties of the ore, including the ore grade, and mineralogical and chemical composition.

Ore grade refers to the concentration level of a particular material per tonne of mined ore. It is an important determinant of the quantity of ore mined and thereby of waste rock removed, the amount of energy used, the volume of process reagents required, and total land disturbed (Priester et al., 2019; Nassar et al., 2022). Energy use and related environmental impacts increase exponentially as ore grade in the mines decreases (Calvo et al., 2022). One of the most energy-intensive stages is crushing the ores, which is fuelled by electricity. Climate change impacts, thus, strongly depend on the regional electricity mix. In addition, ore grade decline results in larger volumes of waste rock and tailings, thereby increasing the risk of water pollution and soil contamination, while the larger surface area disturbed can lead to more significant impacts on biodiversity and soil erosion.

Mineralogical properties include hardness, size, and the presence of impurities. Harder or larger ore bodies require more energy for extraction and are thus associated with more greenhouse gas emissions. The presence of impurities or by-products can necessitate additional processing, requiring more energy and related environmental impact. Chemical properties refer to mineral composition, such as sulfide or oxide ores. Sulfide ores can lead to acid mine drainage, a major source of water pollution and soil contamination, with adverse impacts on aquatic ecosystems. This process can also release other harmful elements, such as arsenic, cadmium, mercury, selenium, and tellurium, into the environment. Oxide ores may require less harmful extraction methods but can still pose environmental risks if not managed properly. Rare earth ores may for example contain thorium, which emits harmful alpha rays when inhaled as dust, and nickel ores may have chromium as a by-product, which can become highly carcinogenic.

4.2 Mine characteristics

Mine characteristics relate to the type of mine (i.e. open pit or underground) and how it is organised (i.e. large-scale or artisanal and small-scale mining).

Around 90% of metallic minerals are extracted using surface or open-pit mining methods (Ramani, 2012). This involves removing surface vegetation and soil layers to access ore deposits, leading to extensive habitat destruction and biodiversity loss. The disruption of land surfaces increases the risk of soil erosion and water pollution. Underground mining involves digging tunnels or shafts to access ore deposits deep underground. It is less impactful with respect to land clearing but can cause land subsidence. Furthermore, underground mining typically requires more energy than open-pit mining, especially for ventilation and pumping out water, leading to higher levels of greenhouse gas emissions. The risk of water contamination can also be significant, particularly if acid mine drainage occurs.

Large-scale mining (LSM) involves the extraction of minerals using advanced technologies, and substantial capital investments. It contributes significantly to global greenhouse gas emissions due to heavy machinery, large-scale land disturbance, and energy-intensive processing. It can lead to large-scale soil disruption and water pollution. The large land-use footprint can also lead to significant habitat destruction and loss of biodiversity. In contrast, artisanal and small-scale mining

(ASM) often involves labour-intensive, low-technology mineral extraction and processing (Box 4.1). It occurs mostly in low-income countries. Artisanal mining is commonly considered to involve only individuals or families and is purely manual, while small-scale mining is more extensive and usually more mechanised (UNEP, 2013). The fluid and unregulated nature of ASM leads to a broad range of environmental consequences that affect large areas. This can result in widespread surface-level impacts, making it challenging to evaluate and oversee these effects effectively (WWF, 2023).

Although ASM is far less energy-intensive than LSM, it is associated with highly polluting technologies and practices, such as uncontrolled smelting and refining (releasing toxic gases, e.g. sulphur dioxide), use of mercury and cyanide (which are highly toxic chemicals) and improper waste disposal (tailings are often disposed of in rivers or on land). These practices often lead to severe soil degradation and water contamination, particularly from the unregulated use of toxic chemicals. For example, mercury and cyanide are highly toxic and can contaminate local water supplies, affecting both wildlife and human populations. They are challenging to control and toxic even in small amounts. They can travel long distances through air and water, contaminating soil and waterways, and eventually entering the food chain. These risks are for example disproportionately affecting women in sub-Saharan Africa, adding to the complex social and gender implications associated with ASM activities (IGF, 2017).

Box 4.1: Artisanal and small-scale mining (ASM)

ASM is commonly associated with precious metals, such as gold, and gemstones, but can also involve metals, such as copper, cobalt and nickel. In many low-income countries, ASM serves as a critical economic activity for local communities. It provides direct employment to miners, many of whom are from vulnerable social groups, including women and children. It is estimated that, in 2023, 44.6 million people worldwide are directly engaged in ASM, across 80 countries⁵. Countries with the largest number of ASM workers are India, China, Indonesia, DRC, Ethiopia, Ghana, Burkino Faso, Zimbabwe, Sudan and Tanzania. This number includes miners and workers involved in the extraction and processing of minerals. The number of people indirectly dependent on ASM, such as those in supply chains and supportive services, is significantly higher. In addition, over 150 million people depend on ASM for their livelihoods (Bank, 2020).

4.3 Waste management

Waste rock (i.e. unprocessed blasted rock) and mine tailings (i.e. residue from mineral processing), represents the largest solid waste flow, globally. Tailings storage facilities (TSFs), constructed to hold this waste, rank as the largest facilities worldwide (Aska et al., 2023). Disclosures from about 1743 TSFs, representing 36% of total commodity production, indicate that they currently hold a minimum of 44.5 billion m³ of waste. However, this amount is growing, for example an estimated annual addition of 10 billion m³ (or approximately 13 billion tonnes) of tailings had to be stored in facilities, during the 2019–2023 period (Aska et al., 2023).

As time passes, tailings undergo changes due to exposure to the environment, potentially releasing contaminants. It is estimated that the number of people affected by historical and active mining contamination is about 11 million and 12 million, respectively (Macklin et al., 2023). Storing tailings

⁵ https://www.delvedatabase.org/data

underwater can help prevent chemical changes by reducing their contact with the atmosphere. However, there is a risk of tailings dams failing and releasing large quantities of tailings into nearby river catchments, posing threats to human health and the environment. Tailing pond failures occur almost every year, and the frequency has been rising. Most failures are linked to heavy rainfall or earthquakes. The immense volume and environmentally sensitive nature of TSFs mean their collapse can adversely affect biodiversity for hundreds of kilometers downstream. Two notable TSF failures in Brazil, the 2015 Samarco disaster and the 2019 Brumadinho disaster, collectively discharged 50 million cubic meters of tailings into nearby water bodies. These incidents resulted in 289 deaths and caused irreversible harm to both aquatic and terrestrial ecosystems, as well as human communities (Aska et al., 2023). It is expected that the annual number of people affected by this is about 320 thousand (Macklin et al., 2023). The causes of failures vary by region, with hydroclimate as a common trigger in Asia and Europe, while earthquakes have been the main cause in South America. To mitigate these risks, effective tailings management is crucial (Kossoff et al., 2014).

4.4 Land rehabilitation

Land rehabilitation at closed or abandoned mine sites is an effective way of reducing the harmful effects of abandoned mining areas and to ensure these lands are used productively and efficiently. It is crucial for preventing continuous environmental impact for hundreds of years. However, especially in important mining regions in Africa, research and regulation on land rehabilitation lags behind (Festin et al., 2019). The main challenges in rehabilitating mine wastelands include issues such as soil compaction, abnormal pH levels (i.e. either too low or too high), poor water retention, erosion gullies, high soil density, and a lack of essential nutrients. The best approach to restoring the productivity of mine soil involves a mix of physical, chemical, and biological methods. The physical method reshapes the land, the chemical and biological methods improve the soil using different materials, such as biochar, compost, artificial fertilisers, synthetic compounds, various plants and even nanoparticles. Using these three methods together helps to improve soil fertility, boost microbial growth, and speed up the natural development of the ecosystem. However, before starting land rehabilitation, it is important to decide what the land will be used for, such as conservation, forestry, farming, dwellings and different types of recreation, or creating lakes or ponds. This decision should be based on thorough analysis and suitability studies of the land (Worlanyo and Jiangfeng, 2021). National research and development programmes and inventories of abandoned mines need to improve in order to increase the chances of mining site rehabilitation.

Box 4.2: Abandoned mines, risks in South Africa

In South Africa, there are 6,100 abandoned mines, and 2,322 of these are identified as high-risk mines. These high-risk sites are predominantly located in regions historically known for asbestos, gold, coal, and copper mining (Mhlongo, 2023).

Physical hazards to the public are an important risk, particularly for nearby communities. These dangers include injuries or fatalities in unused underground tunnels, drowning in flooded pits, or accidents involving unstable structures. Approximately 14,000 people, many of them illegal immigrants, engage in unauthorised mining activities in these mines. In addition, people build their homes on these hazardous lands due to a lack of available settlement space, thus exposing themselves to contaminated soil and the dangers of subsidence, shafts, and unstable, flooded pits.

4.5 Location of the mine

The location of the mine — for example, in rainforest, desert or mountain area — will determine the impact on the environment and nearby communities. Biodiversity impacts differ significantly across locations based on the unique ecological characteristics and species present. In areas with high conservation values as rainforests or wetlands, mining can have a disproportionately severe impact, as these areas often host a high level of biodiversity, including many endemic and rare species. Especially open-pit mining can lead to large-scale habitat destruction, fragmentation, and pollution (Seki, 2022). In arid regions, water use can significantly affect the availability of water for other sectors, such as agriculture and direct human use, as well as for nature. Similarly, mining in mountainous regions can lead to increased erosion and landslides, increasing human risks and disrupting the habitats of many species (Luo et al., 2018). Furthermore, impacts could be greater if new mining activities would be developed outside existing mining areas and/or far from current settlements, as this requires the development of new infrastructure, such as roads, railroads and ports. These developments can cause further changes in the landscape but can also open up areas for human settlements and other activities, such as hunting, fishing and agriculture (Sonter et al., 2018; Cabernard and Pfister, 2022).

4.6 Environmental regulation

Although the mining sector has increasingly adopted due diligence measures regarding the corporate responsibility to respect human rights, a similar emphasis on environmental due diligence is not as prevalent. While there are many international instruments and (mostly) voluntary initiatives such as the recent OECD handbook on Environmental Due Diligence in Minerals Supply Chains (OECD, 2023) and the Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative (EITI), they are not sufficient yet on their own to guarantee sustainable mining (IRP, 2020; Franken and Schütte, 2022).

One challenge frequently discussed in assessed literature is that supply chains of energy products are complex and often impossible to trace, thus complicating environmental regulation, such as International Corporate Social Responsibility standards from countries consuming end-products. Mineral supply chains involve numerous actors across various countries, each with differing regulations. Most minerals are undifferentiated goods, meaning they have the same characteristics regardless of extraction location, complicating their traceability back to individual mines. In addition, mineral aggregation points such as smelters, where materials from various mines are mixed, present a major obstacle for traceability. These traits make it difficult for companies to assess and mitigate environmental and human rights risks, and for regulatory bodies and civil society to hold companies accountable (Schöneich et al., 2023).

According to Franken and Schütte (2022) another challenge is the current uneven capacities for implementation of environmental regulations. For example in the artisanal and small-scale mining (ASM) sector in Central Africa, local production regions are remote, ASM producers are often poorly organised, monitoring is complex, and there is a lack of robust financing models on implementation costs. Broader social and environmental issues extend beyond the scope of these regulations (IRP, 2020).

Another issue often mentioned, related to the regulations themselves, is that environmental regulations do not tackle the indirect and accumulative impacts of a mine. For example, currently

regulatory approvals often focus only on the immediate effects of new or expanded mining projects, overlooking the broader, long-term consequences that combine with other environmental stressors over time and space (Sonter et al., 2018).

Addressing environmental issues in mining requires considering environmental commitments within mineral governance and narrowing the gap between downstream expectations and upstream activities. Effective strategies, as identified in literature, include promoting a circular economy, supporting resource-rich countries in equitable value chain participation, implementing the Sustainable Development License to Operate (IRP, 2020), formalising ASM, fostering trust through standards like EITI, enforcing environmental impact reporting that includes local community perspectives, and employing a nexus approach in spatial planning to optimize the benefits of resources and protect biodiversity (Fenton Villar, 2020; IRP, 2020; Sonter et al., 2020). Further research is needed to tailor these strategies to specific contexts.

5 Knowledge gaps

Research on the environmental impacts of mineral production is a vital area of study, given the profound effects this industry has on natural ecosystems and human societies. While significant progress has been made in understanding these impacts, several knowledge gaps and research challenges persist.

The environmental impacts of mining are not fully understood

There is a lack of comprehensive research on the impacts of metals. In the literature, climate change dominates the assessment of mining impacts, occupying 64% of the LCAs (Rachid et al., 2023). This creates a bias since it neglects other vital aspects of mining, such as water use, waste management, exploration, and design, and land rehabilitation. For instance, major mining-related disasters often stem from poor tailings disposal practices and the infiltration of toxins into the soil and groundwater. The initial planning and exploration phases are also frequently overlooked in assessing environmental impacts. Some metals, such as gold and copper, have been extensively researched, while others, such as molybdenum, silicon, graphite, and rare earth elements, have been relatively neglected in the literature. Whether this gap should receive priority can be questioned, since mining impacts also depend on other factors than the type of metal that is mined. In addition, studies have warned that indirect, legacy and cumulative impacts of mining are not understood well enough yet to get a good overview of the overall risk of metal mining for the various ecosystems (Sonter et al., 2023). The impact of opening up and accessing pristine areas and contamination of soil and water affects nature and people well beyond the site and over an extended period of time is only partly known. This is also strongly visible in the fact that environmental assessments for regulatory approval of projects currently only look at a mine's direct impacts.

A complete overview of locations of mines is missing

The fact that mining operations are increasingly encroaching upon areas rich in biodiversity underscores the necessity for detailed mapping of land use within the global mining sector. Ongoing research efforts are dedicated to continuously updating the mapping of mining sites on a global scale. The most recent achievement in this area is the development of a comprehensive data set, which includes 44,929 mining sties, covering a total area of 101,583 square kilometres (Sonter et al., 2023). This data set encompasses a range of mining operations, from large-scale endeavors to artisanal and small-scale activities, including open pit mining, tailings dams, waste rock dumps, human-made water bodies, processing facilities, and other land features associated with mining activities. Essential geographic information is still missing. For example, throughout the past century, numerous mines have ceased operations for various reasons, yet a detailed and comprehensive database of closed and abandoned mine sites is lacking in many parts of the world. Consequently, the whereabouts of many of these mines have faded from public awareness. This absence of information impedes the ability of authorities to evaluate potential risks related to land and water pollution, as well as ground subsidence (Young et al., 2021). This information is needed for policy-making on global and regional scales for strategic locations for mines. Without strategic planning, the environmental impact of mining for renewable energy could be at odds with climate change mitigation benefits.

Environmental assessment methods for metals have not been streamlined or are not yet developed for mining

Environmental assessment methods for metals, such as of Life Cycle Assessment (LCA), have not been streamlined, complicating comparison or bundling of studies. An important complexity arises because frequently various co-elements (i.e. other metals) are mined from one mine, with variable economic values, leading to challenges known as multifunctionality issues (i.e. the allocation of impact to various co-products). As long as this is not solved, environmental impacts of co-products can be overestimated or underestimated. For the development of rules on environmental impact allocation, a political debate would be desirable, similar to that for agro-commodities. Also, there is a lack of research and metrics to properly assess the impact of metal mining on soils in LMICs. For example, research by Eijsackers et al. (2017) emphasises the challenges for arable soils in southern Africa due to mining. The current risk assessment procedures (often initiated by western mining companies), modelled on European and North American conditions, may not be suitable for the unique environmental conditions in Africa. Lastly, mining affects biodiversity at multiple geographic scales, from the mine site to global impacts. This includes the clearing of native forests, habitat fragmentation, and contributions to climate change. Improving performance-based metrics and understanding the impacts of mining on biodiversity are crucial steps to address these challenges.

Bottom-up data are incomplete and difficult to access

A lack of transparency from the side of the mining companies regarding their environmental impacts further hinders research efforts. The unavailability of crucial data from corporations limits the ability of researchers to assess the true extent of mining-related environmental issues. This causes the impacts to be underestimated. For example, it is assumed that more than 23 million people are living in floodplains affected by toxic waste from historical and ongoing metal mining. However, for this estimation, accurate data on mines and waste management facilities in China, India and Russia are lacking (Macklin et al., 2023). Steps have been made to improve reporting of impacts (e.g. by EITI and ICCM), but since this is voluntary, only some companies are seriously adopting these metrics. Research on artisanal and small-scale mining (ASM) activities in primarily low-income countries is still ongoing, as there is still a gap in knowledge on where ASM takes place and what the associated environmental impacts are (Tang and Werner, 2023). The varying status of ASM (formal/informal, legal/illegal) further complicates both the access to information on impact and the ability to regulate.

6 References

- Adiansyah JS. (2023). Carbon footprint based analysis for estimating the potential pollution of nickel production in Indonesia. AIP Conference Proceedings 2706 (1): 020115.
- Affandi FA and Ishak MY. (2019). Impacts of suspended sediment and metal pollution from mining activities on riverine fish population—a review. Environmental Science and Pollution Research 26 (17): 16939–16951.
- Aska B, Franks DM, Stringer M and Sonter LJ. (2023). Biodiversity conservation threatened by global mining wastes. Nature Sustainability.
- Azadi M, Northey SA, Ali SH and Edraki M. (2020). Transparency on greenhouse gas emissions from mining to enable climate change mitigation. Nature Geoscience 13 (2): 100–104.
- Beck KK, Mariani M, Fletcher MS, Schneider L, Aquino-López MA, Gadd PS, Heijnis H, Saunders KM and Zawadzki A. (2020). The impacts of intensive mining on terrestrial and aquatic ecosystems: A case of sediment pollution and calcium decline in cool temperate Tasmania, Australia. Environmental Pollution 265: 114695.
- Byrne P, Wood, PJ and Reid, I. (2011). The impairment of river systems by metal mine contamination: A review including remediation options. Critical Reviews in Environmental Science and Technology 42 (19).
- Cabernard L and Pfister S. (2022). Hotspots of Mining-Related Biodiversity Loss in Global Supply Chains and the Potential for Reduction through Renewable Electricity. Environmental Science & Technology 56 (22): 16357–16368.
- Calvo G, Palacios J-L and Valero A. (2022). The influence of ore grade decline on energy consumption and GhG emissions: The case of gold. Environmental Development 41: 100683.
- Chen L, Zhou M, Wang J, Zhang Z, Duan C, Wang X, Zhao S, Bai X, Li Z, Li Z and Fang L. (2022). A global meta-analysis of heavy metal(loid)s pollution in soils near copper mines: Evaluation of pollution level and probabilistic health risks. Science of The Total Environment 835: 155441.
- CIM. (2014). CIM Definition Standards for Mineral Resources & Mineral Reserves. Canadian Institute of Mining, Metallurgy and Petroleum, Westmount.
- Coulthard TJ and Macklin MG. (2003). Modeling long-term contamination in river systems from historical metal mining. Geology 31: 451–454.
- Deetman S, de Boer HS, Van Engelenburg M, van der Voet E and van Vuuren DP. (2021). Projected material requirements for the global electricity infrastructure generation, transmission and storage. Resources, Conservation and Recycling 164: 105200.
- Dethier EN, Silman MR, Fernandez LE, Espejo JC, Alqahtani S, Pauca P and Lutz DA. (2023). Operation mercury: Impacts of national-level armed forces intervention and anticorruption strategy on artisanal gold mining and water quality in the Peruvian Amazon. Conservation Letters 16 (5): e12978.
- Eijsackers H, Reinecke A, Reinecke S and Maboeta M. (2017). Threatened southern African soils: A need for appropriate ecotoxicological risk assessment. Environmental Impact Assessment Review 63: 128–135.
- European Commission. (2023a). A secure and sustainable supply of critical raw materials in support of the twin transition. COM(2023) 165 final, Brussels.
- European Commission. (2023b). Study on the Critical Raw Materials for the EU 2023 final report.
- EZK, BZ and IenW. (2022). National raw materials strategy: material resources for the major transitions. Ministry of Econic Affairs and Climate Policy, Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Ministry of Infrastructure and Water Management, The Hague.
- Farjana SH. (2019). A review on the impact of mining and mineral processing industries through life cycle assessment. Journal of Cleaner Production 231: 1200.
- Fenton Villar P. (2020). The Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative (EITI) and trust in politicians. Resources Policy 68: 101713.
- Festin ES, Tigabu M, Chileshe MN, Syampungani S and Odén PC. (2019). Progresses in restoration of post-mining landscape in Africa. Journal of Forestry Research 30 (2): 381–396.

- Franken G and Schütte P. (2022). Current trends in addressing environmental and social risks in mining and mineral supply chains by regulatory and voluntary approaches. Mineral Economics 35 (3): 653–671.
- Frascoli F and Hudson-Edwards K. (2018). Geochemistry, Mineralogy and Microbiology of Molybdenum in Mining-Affected Environments. Minerals 8 (2).
- Gielen D. (2021). Critical minerals for the energy transition. International Renewable Energy Agency, Abu Dhabi.
- Giljum S, Maus V, Kuschnig N, Luckeneder S, Tost M, Sonter L and Bebbington A. (2022). A pantropical assessment of deforestation caused by industrial mining. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 119.
- Heidari SM and Anctil A. (2022). Country-specific carbon footprint and cumulative energy demand of metallurgical grade silicon production for silicon photovoltaics. Resources, Conservation and Recycling 180: 106171.
- Hund K, La Porta D, Fabregas TP, Laing T and Drexhage J. (2020). Minerals for Climate Action: The Mineral Intensity of the Clean Energy Transition. The World Bank, Washington.
- IEA. (2021). The Role of Critical Minerals in Clean Energy Transitions. International Energy Agency (IEA), Paris.
- IEA. (2023). Critical Minerals Market Review 2023. International Energy Agency, Paris.
- IGF. (2017). Global Trends in Artisanal and Small-Scale Mining (ASM): A review of key numbers and issues, . (2017). . : IISD. The International Institute for Sustainable Development (IISD), Winnipeg.
- Ippolito JA, Cui L, Novak JM and Johnson MG. (2019). Chapter 5 Biochar for Mine-land rehabilitation, in: Ok, YS, Tsang, DCW, Bolan, N, Novak, JM (Eds.), Biochar from Biomass and Waste. Elsevier, pp. 75–90.
- IRP. (2019). Global Resources Outlook 2019: Natural Resources for the Future We Want, in: Oberle, B, Bringezu, S, Hatfield-Dodds, S, Hellweg, S, Schandl, H, Clement, J, Cabernard, L, Che, N, Chen, D, Droz-Georget, H, Ekins, P, Fischer-Kowalski, M, Flörke, M, Frank, S, Froemelt, A, Geschke, A, Haupt , M, Havlik, P, Hüfner, R, Lenzen, M, Lieber, M, Liu, B, Lu, Y, Lutter, S, Mehr, J, Miatto, A, Newth, D, Oberschelp, C, Obersteiner, M, Pfister, S, Piccoli, E, Schaldach, R, Schüngel, J, Sonderegger, T, Sudheshwar, A, Tanikawa, H, van der Voet, E, Walker, C, West, J, Wang, Z, Zhu, B (Eds.). A Report of the International Resource Panel. United Nations Environment Programme, Nairobi, Kenya.
- IRP. (2020). Mineral Resource Governance in the 21st Century: Gearing extractive industries towards sustainable development, in: Ayuk, ET, Pedro, AM, Ekins, P, Gatune, J, Milligan, B, B., O, Christmann, P, Ali, S, Kumar, SV, Bringezu, S, Acquatella, J, Bernaudat, L, Bodouroglou, C, Brooks, S, Buergi Bonanomi, E, Clement, J, Collins, N, Davis, K, Davy, A, Dawkins, K, Dom, A, Eslamishoar, F, Franks, D, Hamor, T, Jensen, D, Lahiri-Dutt, K, Mancini, L, Nuss, P, Petersen, I, Sanders, ARD (Eds.). A report of the International Resource Panel. United Nations Environment Programme, Nairobi.
- Jasansky S, Lieber M, Giljum S and Maus V. (2023). An open database on global coal and metal mine production. Scientific Data 10 (1): 52.
- Keenan RJ, Reams GA, Achard F, de Freitas JV, Grainger A and Lindquist E. (2015). Dynamics of global forest area: Results from the FAO Global Forest Resources Assessment 2015. Forest Ecology and Management 352: 9–20.
- Kossoff D, Dubbin WE, Alfredsson M, Edwards SJ, Macklin MG and Hudson-Edwards KA. (2014). Mine tailings dams: Characteristics, failure, environmental impacts, and remediation. Applied Geochemistry 51: 229–245.
- Kříbek B, Nyambe I, Sracek O, Mihaljevič M and Knésl I. (2023). Impact of Mining and Ore Processing on Soil, Drainage and Vegetation in the Zambian Copperbelt Mining Districts: A Review, Minerals.
- Lèbre É, Stringer M, Svobodova K, Owen JR, Kemp D, Côte C, Arratia-Solar A and Valenta RK. (2020). The social and environmental complexities of extracting energy transition metals. Nature Communications 11 (1): 4823.
- Listiyani N, Said MY and Khalid A. (2023). Strengthening Rehabilitation Obligation through Mining Law Reform: Indonesian Experience. Resources 12 (5).
- Luo AK, Hou Y and Hu XY. (2018). Mining influence on underground water resources in arid and semiarid regions. IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science 113 (1): 012131.
- Macklin MG, Thomas CJ, Mudbhatkal A, Brewer PA, Hudson-Edwards KA, Lewin J, Scussolini P, Eilander D, Lechner A, Owen J, Bird G, Kemp D and Mangalaa KR. (2023). Impacts of metal mining on river systems: a global assessment. Science 381 (6664): 1345–1350.

- Madaka H, Babbitt CW and Ryen EG. (2022). Opportunities for reducing the supply chain water footprint of metals used in consumer electronics. Resources, Conservation and Recycling 176: 105926.
- Marscheider-Weidemann F, Langkau S, Baur S-J, Billaud M, Deubzer O, Eberling E, Erdmann L, Haendel M, Krail M, Loibl A, Maisel F, Marwede M, Neef C, Neuwirth M, Rostek L, Rückschloss J, Shirinzadeh S, Stijepic D, Tercero Espinoza L and Tippner M. (2021). Raw materials for emerging technologies 2021. German Mineral Resources Agency (DERA), Berlin.
- Maus V, Giljum S, da Silva DM, Gutschlhofer J, da Rosa RP, Luckeneder S, Gass SLB, Lieber M and McCallum I. (2022). An update on global mining land use. Scientific Data 9 (1): 433.
- Meissner S. (2021). The Impact of Metal Mining on Global Water Stress and Regional Carrying Capacities—A GIS-Based Water Impact Assessment. Resources 10: 120.
- Mhlongo SE. (2023). Physical hazards of abandoned mines: A review of cases from South Africa. The Extractive Industries and Society 15: 101285.
- Nassar NT, Lederer GW, Brainard JL, Padilla AJ and Lessard JD. (2022). Rock-to-Metal Ratio: A Foundational Metric for Understanding Mine Wastes. Environmental Science & Technology 56 (10): 6710–6721.
- Nayar J. (2021). Not So 'Green' Technology: The Complicated Legacy of Rare Earth Mining, Harvard International Review, https://hir.harvard.edu/not-so-green-technology-the-complicated-legacyof-rare-earth-mining/.
- Nijnens J, Behrens P, Kraan O, Sprecher B and Kleijn R. (2023). Energy transition will require substantially less mining than the current fossil system. Joule 7 (11): 2408–2413.
- Norgate T. (2010). Energy and greenhouse gas impacts of mining and mineral processing operations. Journal of Cleaner Production 18 (3): 266.
- NRDC. (2022). EXHAUSTED: How we can stop lithium mining from depleting water resources, draining wetlands and harming communities in South America.
- OECD. (2023). Handbook on Environmental Due Diligence in Mineral Supply Chains.
- Priester M, Ericsson M, Dolega P and Löf O. (2019). Mineral grades: an important indicator for environmental impact of mineral exploitation. Mineral Economics 32 (1): 49–73.
- Rachid S, Taha Y and Benzaazoua M. (2023). Environmental evaluation of metals and minerals production based on a life cycle assessment approach: A systematic review. Minerals Engineering 198: 108076.

Ramani RV. (2012). Surface Mining Technology: Progress and Prospects. Procedia Engineering 46: 9–21.

- Ramli M, Purwanto, Thamrin M, Maemuna and Asrafil M. (2020). Analysis of Soil Erosion on Mine Area. IOP Conference Series: Materials Science and Engineering 875: 012052.
- Schoderer M and Ott M. (2022). Contested water- and miningscapes Explaining the high intensity of water and mining conflicts in a meta-study. World Development 154: 105888.
- Schöneich S, Saulich C and Müller M. (2023). Traceability and foreign corporate accountability in mineral supply chains. Regulation & Governance 17 (4): 954-969.
- Schrijvers D, Hool A, Blengini GA, Chen W-Q, Dewulf J, Eggert R, van Ellen L, Gauss R, Goddin J, Habib K, Hagelüken C, Hirohata A, Hofmann-Amtenbrink M, Kosmol J, Le Gleuher M, Grohol M, Ku A, Lee M-H, Liu G, Nansai K, Nuss P, Peck D, Reller A, Sonnemann G, Tercero L, Thorenz A and Wäger PA. (2020). A review of methods and data to determine raw material criticality. Resources, Conservation and Recycling 155: 104617.
- Seki HA. (2022). Environmental impacts of mining on biodiversity and ecosystem services, Environment and Geography. University of York, New York.
- Sonter LJ, Herrera D, Barrett DJ, Galford GL, Moran CJ and Soares-Filho BS. (2017). Mining drives extensive deforestation in the Brazilian Amazon. Nature Communications 8 (1): 1013.
- Sonter LJ, Ali SH and Watson JEM. (2018). Mining and biodiversity: key issues and research needs in conservation science. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 285 (1892): 20181926.
- Sonter LJ, Dade MC, Watson JEM and Valenta RK. (2020). Renewable energy production will exacerbate mining threats to biodiversity. Nature Communications 11 (1): 4174.
- Sonter LJ, Maron M, Bull JW, Giljum S, Luckeneder S, Maus V, McDonald-Madden E, Northey SA, Sánchez LE, Valenta R, Visconti P, Werner TT and Watson JEM. (2023). How to fuel an energy transition with ecologically responsible mining. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 120 (35): e2307006120.
- Swingland I. (2013). Biodiversity, Definition of, pp. 399–410.

Tang L and Werner TT. (2023). Global mining footprint mapped from high-resolution satellite imagery. Communications Earth & Environment 4 (1): 134.

UNEP. (2013). Environmental risks and challenges of anthropogenic metals flows and cycles, A

Report of the Working Group on the Global Metal Flows to the International Resource Panel. van der Voet, E.; Salminen, R.; Eckelman, M.; Mudd, G.; Norgate, T.; Hischier, R.

USGS. (2014). Mineral commodity summaries 2014. United States Geological Survey, Washington. D.C. USGS. (2023). Mineral commodity summaries 2023. United States Geological Survey, Washington. D.C.

van Exter P, Bouwens J, Bosch S, Favrin S, Zeijlmans S, Sprecher B, van der Vlies D, Wirtz A and van Oorschot J. (2021). Towards a circular energy transition — Exploring solutions to mitigate surging demand for critical metals in the energy transition Metabolic, Copper8, Polaris and Quintel.

van Oorschot J, Sprecher B, Roelofs B, van der Horst J and van der Voet E. (2022). Towards a lowcarbon and circular economy: Scenarios for metal stocks and flows in the Dutch electricity system. Resources, Conservation and Recycling 178: 106105.

Vera ML, Torres WR, Galli CI, Chagnes A and Flexer V. (2023). Environmental impact of direct lithium extraction from brines. Nature Reviews Earth & Environment 4 (3): 149–165.

Wang S, Hausfather Z, Davis S, Lloyd J, Olson EB, Liebermann L, Núñez-Mujica GD and McBride J. (2023). Future demand for electricity generation materials under different climate mitigation scenarios. Joule 7 (2): 309–332.

Watari T, Nansai K and Nakajima K. (2020). Review of critical metal dynamics to 2050 for 48 elements. Resources, Conservation and Recycling 155: 104669.

Watari T, Nansai K, Nakajima K and Giurco D. (2021). Sustainable energy transitions require enhanced resource governance. Journal of Cleaner Production 312: 127698.

Worlanyo AS and Jiangfeng L. (2021). Evaluating the environmental and economic impact of mining for post-mined land restoration and land-use: A review. Journal of Environmental Management 279: 111623.

World Bank (2020). 2020 State of the Artisinal ans Small-scale Mining Sector. World Bank, Washington, D.C,

WRI. (2024). More Critical Minerals Mining Could Strain Water Supplies in Stressed Regions.

WWF. (2023). Extracted forests, unearthing the role of mining-related deforestation as a driver of global deforestation.

Young KP, Murray BR, Martin LJ and Murray ML. (2021). Lost but Not Forgotten: Identifying Unmapped and Unlisted Environmental Hazards including Abandoned Mines, Sustainability.

Appendix

Table A.1

Mining in low- and lower middle-income countries, 2022 (USGS, 2023)

	Low-income countries *	Lower middle-income countries *
Aluminium (Bauxite)	Mozambique, Sierra Leone	Guinea (23%), India (4%), Tanzania (1%), Côte d'Ivoire, Ghana, Iran, Pakistan, Solomon Islands, Vietnam
Chromium	Afghanistan, Madagascar, Sudan	India, Iran, Pakistan, Papua New, Guinea, Philippines, Vietnam, Zimbabwe
Cobalt	DRC (68%), Madagascar (2%)	Papua New Guinea (2%), Philippines (2%), Morocco, Vietnam, Zambia, Zimbabwe
Copper	DRC (7%), Eritra, North Korea, Uganda	Bolivia, Myanmar, India, Iran, Kyrgyzstan, Laos, Mauritania, Mongolia, Morocco, Pakistan, Papua New Guinea, Philippines, Tanzania, Uzbekistan, Vietnam, Zambia, Zimbabwe
Graphite (natural)	North Korea (1%), Madagascar (8%), Mozambique (14%)	India, Sri Lanka, Tanzania, Ukraine, Uzbekistan, Vietnam, Zimbabwe
Lithium	-	Zimbabwe
Manganese	Burkina Faso, DRC, Sudan	Myanmar (1%), Côte d'Ivoire (2%), Ghana (5%), India (2%), Ukraine (2%), Iran, Morocco, Egypt, Nigeria, Uzbekistan, Vietnam, Zambia
Molybdenum	-	Iran (1%), Philippines (10%), Mongolia, Uzbekistan
Nickel	Madagascar (1%)	Philippines (10%), Myanmar, Morocco, Papua New Guinea, Venezuela, Vietnam, Zambia, Zimbabwe
REEs	Burundi, Madagascar	Myanmar (4%), India (1%), Tanzania and Vietnam
Silicon		Bhutan, Egypt, India, Laos, Ukraine, Uzbekistan
Zinc	Burkina Faso, DRC, Eritrea, North Korea	Bolivia (6%), India (6%), Myanmar, Congo, Honduras, India, Mongolia, Morocco, Nigeria, Pakistan, Tajikistan, Uzbekistan, Vietnam

* Numbers in brackets are global production shares; in italics means a production share of less than 1%

	Historical ¹⁾	IEA ¹⁾	World Bank ²⁾	DERA ³⁾
	(2021 demand as	(2040 demand as	(2050 demand as	(2040 demand as
	% of 2021	% of 2018	% of 2018	% of 2022
	production)	production)	production)	production)
Climate target	-	1.5 °C	2 °C	2 °C
Aluminium (Bauxite)	-	-	9	-
Chromium	0	1	1	-
Cobalt	49	208	460	277
Copper	29	87	-	30
Graphite (natural)	53	315	494	74
Lithium	89	1437	488	400
Manganese	1	12	4	-
Molybdenum	9	2	11	-
Nickel	18	15	99	-
REEs	5	30	-	222
Silicon	7	25	-	-
Zinc	5	15	-	-

Table A.2 Material demand for renewable energy technologies in selected climate mitigation scenarios

Source: ¹⁾ International Energy Agency (IEA, 2023); ²⁾ World Bank (Hund et al., 2020); ³⁾ German Raw Materials Agency (Marscheider-Weidemann et al., 2021).